
Agenda

No Local Connection Review 
Group

Date: Thursday 19 July 2018

Time: 5.00 pm

Place: Freemens' Room - Oxford Town Hall

For any further information please contact: 
Stefan Robinson
Telephone: 01865 252191
Email: srobinson@oxford.gov.uk

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the 
Contact Officer know how you wish to do this before the start of the meeting.



HOW TO OBTAIN A COPY OF THE AGENDA

In order to reduce the use of resources, our carbon footprint and our costs we will no longer produce 
paper copies of agenda over and above our minimum requirements. Paper copies may be looked at 
the Town Hall Reception and at Customer Services, St Aldate’s and at the Westgate Library

A copy of the agenda may be:-
- Viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk
- Downloaded from our website
- Subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk

No Local Connection Review Group
Membership

Chair Councillor Nadine Bely-Summers

Councillor Shaista Aziz Councillor Paul Harris
Councillor Richard Howlett Councillor Tom Landell Mills
Councillor Craig Simmons



AGENDA

Pages

1  WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS

2  REVIEW SCOPE AND BACKGROUND READING LIST 7 - 14
To note the scope and purpose of the review agreed by the Scrutiny 
Committee.

3  THE CURRENT CONTEXT 15 - 92
To understand the current provision of services for rough sleepers, in line 
with some of the key questions outlined in the scoping document.  

Please note that as a joint operational protocol between local authorities, the 
Common Operational Protocol is confidential under the terms of section 
100A(3) of Part VA of the Local Government Act 1972.

4  APPROACH TO ENGAGING WITH ROUGH SLEEPERS
The review scope identifies a need to engage with rough sleepers, and the 
Review Group is asked to devise an approach to engaging with rough 
sleepers. Key matters to consider:

 What are we trying to understand from rough sleepers?
 What GDPR, safeguarding and reputational issues need to be considered?
 What connections do colleagues have that may help in gathering feedback 

from rough sleepers?

5  CONFIRMATION OF GUEST SPEAKERS 93 - 94
The Review Group is requested to select a cross section of speakers to form 
a ‘expert panel.’ The Scrutiny Officer has compiled a brief list of suggestions, 
but officers and councillors will have their own ideas. Examples may be 
former rough sleepers, homelessness charities, council officers and 
academic researchers. Key matters to consider:

 How does their knowledge and experience relate to the scope of the review?
 What are we trying to understand from each guest speaker?
 Would written submissions be more appropriate for some speakers?

6  NEXT STEPS
To clarify the actions agreed and next steps of the review. 

7  FUTURE MEETING DATES
Based on the availability received to date, the following dates are proposed:

Tuesday 21 August 2018
Tuesday 4 September 2018



Tuesday 2 October 2018

8  REPORTS CONTAINING CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT 
INFORMATION
Please note that as a joint operational protocol between local authorities, the 
Common Operational Protocol is confidential under the terms of section 
100A(3) of Part VA of the Local Government Act 1972. If the Review Group 
wishes to exclude the press and the public from the meeting during 
consideration of this item, it will be necessary to pass a resolution to that 
effect.



DECLARING INTERESTS

General duty

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the 
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you.

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses 
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses); 
contracts; land in the Council’s area; licenses for land in the Council’s area; corporate tenancies; 
and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which 
is publicly available on the Council’s website.

Declaring an interest

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, you must 
declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of 
the interest.

If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you must not 
participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter 
is discussed.

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of Conduct 
says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place yourself 
in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is that the 
matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a whole and regard should 
continue to be paid to the perception of the public.

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but 
also those member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if they were 
civil partners.



This page is intentionally left blank



Oxford City Council Scoping Document 
The No Local Connection Review Group

This scoping template is designed to assist councillors and officers in establishing the focus of a 
scrutiny review group. Specifically, the scoping template emphasises the need for scrutiny review 
groups to have a clear purpose, rationale and focus for their work, and to make the best use of the 
resources available within a given time frame. This document will act as a reference guide 
throughout the review process to ensure the review does not deviate from its intended purpose.

Membership Councillor Shaista Aziz
Councillor Nadine Bely-Summers (Chair)
Councillor Paul Harris
Councillor Richard Howlett
Councillor Tom Landell-Mills
Councillor Craig Simmons

Officer 
support 

The Scrutiny Officer will support the Review Group around existing work 
commitments. Approximately 10 hours a week will be dedicated to producing 
meeting notes, agendas, organising guests, research and drafting reports. 
Council officers within Housing Services will also provide technical advice, 
though their capacity to support the review may be limited among other 
commitments. 

Background 
and rational

With average house prices around 16 times the yearly average household 
income, Oxford is one of the most unaffordable cities in which to live in 
England. Changes introduced by new legislation, Government policy and 
reductions in national and county-level funding have meant the demand for 
City Council services has increased. 

Homelessness pressures are increasing, with over 100 households per 
month approaching the Council as homeless and requesting assistance. 
Despite these pressures, the council has been meeting its target of housing 
not more than 120 families in Temporary accommodation. Street counts of 
rough sleepers have however shown high and sustained levels in the City, 
with the most recent published data recording 61, and estimating 89, in 
November 2017

The Council recently agreed a new Housing and Homelessness Strategy 
2018-21, which has an 18 month Action Plan. Members of the review group 
will be encouraged to study this document before their first meeting. This 
Strategy states that the Council intends to continue to apply a local 
connection approach to most of its accommodation based commissioned 
services, and will operate a reconnection service for persons that have a 
better local connection to another area. 

There are however exemptions available to care leavers and victims of 
violence, for example, and the local connection policy does not apply in 
instances of severe weather.  Many commissioned services do not require a 
local connection, including the Street Outreach service; Sit-Up spaces; Day 
Centres; Employment and Support services.

The Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities defines a local 
connection as having residence for at least 6 months in an area during the 
previous 12 months, or for 3 years during the previous 5 year period. Family 
connection to an area is also a factor in deciding whether there is a local 
connection.   7

Agenda Item 2



A 2015 Crisis report suggested that “a much broader debate needs to be 
had as regards the appropriateness of using the Code of Guidance local 
connection criteria to restrict rough sleepers’ eligibility for accommodation 
and other building based services.” This review will contribute to the 
conversation on this issue.  

Oxford City Council also uses this statutory definition with regard to eligibility 
to the Housing Register.  Entry into the Adult Homeless Pathway is based 
around a less stringent ‘Pathway Connection’ being established.  If a ‘Local 
Connection’ can also be established, then this is also recorded as it will 
open up more ‘move-on’ options at the end of the pathway.  

69% of homeless people recorded in the City’s 2017 street count did not 
have an identifiable or known connection to any of the local authorities in 
Oxfordshire. 21% had an identifiable local connection to one of the other 
district councils in the County and 10% had an identifiable local connection 
to Oxford City. There has been an increase in the number of people found 
rough sleeping in the City with no local connection and who are looking for 
work and somewhere to live.

There has not yet been a detailed piece of work to assess what the impact 
of relaxing the Council’s local connection policy would mean for service 
users and the Council, and the Review Group’s work will seek to address 
this.  

Purpose of 
the Review 

The Review Group will carry out a review into the specific impact of the 
current local connection policy on those without a local connection.

The purpose of the review is to produce recommendations that might 
improve or broaden the level of services available to those without a local 
connection. It is expected that any recommendations to change the 
Council’s policies will require the Review Group to consider the financial 
implications of such changes, and where funding might be made available. 
Specific areas to consider are:

1. What provision is already in place to support rough sleepers without a 
local connection.

2. How homelessness services are funded.
3. The views of service users, services providers and experts on how the 

local connection policy impacts on homeless people with and without a 
local connection. 

4. Understanding the reconnection process for those without a local 
connection. 

5. Consideration of alternative service models that could provide further 
assistance to persons with no pathway/ local connection, either by way of 
reconnection, support or accommodation (including faith groups 
operating without public funding) and the likely impacts of this.

6. The implications of relaxing the local connection policy. This includes the 
risks, benefits, financial and resource implications. 

7. National best practice, legislative requirements, and alternative 
approaches in relation to preventing and reducing homelessness. 

8. Fact checking misconceptions about the provision of services. 

8

https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/237144/the_reconnection_of_rough_sleepers_within_the_uk_an-_evaluation_2015.pdf


Indicators of 
Success

1. The majority of recommendations are agreed and implemented.
2. A strong evidence base is produced to support current or alternative 

arrangements in relation to the local connection policy. 
3. Improving  public awareness in relation to street homelessness matters, 

and informing the debate about homelessness in the City (being initiated 
within the ‘City Conversation’. 

4. Improving outcomes for homeless people, with the ambition of reducing 
levels of rough sleeping within the City.  

5. Service users and providers feel that they have been listened to and their 
feedback taken on board as part of an open and transparent review. 

Out of scope Issues around the availability and affordability of housing in the city and the 
cost of living, while relevant, will not be central to the review. The Council 
has recently agreed a Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2018-21, and 
the Strategy as a whole will not be subject to a review, as time is needed for 
the action plan to be implemented. 

Method /
Approach

The Review Group will carry out evidence gathering firstly by hearing from 
officers about current Council and third party provision for homeless people 
in the City. The Review Group will then undertake a series of evidence 
gathering exercises to meet the purpose of the review. This will involve 
meeting current and former homeless people to gather data on their 
experience, and recording anonymous case studies where relevant. The 
Review Group will then meet to feedback on their findings. The data 
collection process must be carried out in a robust and objective manner to 
ensure its credibility in supporting any recommendations. 

The Review Group will meet with service providers, experts and other 
guests to ask them about the current service provision for homeless people, 
the local connection policy, and possible recommendations that could be 
made. The group will meet with a variety of speakers across as many 
meetings as needed to develop a holistic and balanced understanding of the 
issues. The timeline agreed for the review may need to be reviewed where 
additional evidence is required. 

The Review Group will contact at least one other authority to consider their 
approach to supporting people without a local connection. Derby City 
Council has been highlighted. The Review Group will conclude by meeting 
to reflect on the evidence gathered, and agree its recommendations. 
Recommendations will be specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and 
timely (SMART). 

The Scrutiny Officer will support the Review Group by producing a detailed 
report of its work, the evidence gathered, and the recommendations agreed, 
with an accompanied rationale for the recommendations made. 

Guest 
speakers 

As a starting point, the Review Group will want to hear from:

1. Stephen Clarke, Head of Housing, Oxford City Council
2. Dave Scholes, Housing Needs Manager, Oxford City Council
3. Rachel Lawrence, Rough Sleeping and Single Homelessness Manager
4. Men and women who have experience of homelessness
5. Oxford City Council’s Outreach Team
6. Crisis, national homelessness charity
7. Oxford Winter Night Shelter 
8. Oxford Homelessness Project
9. Housing needs manager(s) at other authorities. 

9



10. Professor Sarah Johnsen and Dr Anwen Jones (Authors of The 
reconnection of rough sleepers within the UK: an evaluation)

11. Professor Suzanne Fitzpatrick (Author of The homelessness monitor: 
England 2018)

Specify 
evidence 
required and 
documents

Oxford City Council’s Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2018-21
Evidence for the Housing and Homelessness Strategy 2018-21
Oxford City Council’s spending commitment to homelessness services
The Homelessness Pathway (March 2018 CEB report)
Adult Homeless Pathway Map and Services Directory
Operating protocols for the Adult Homeless Pathway (confidential)
Quarterly homelessness count data
The homelessness monitor: England 2018
The reconnection of rough sleepers within the UK: an evaluation
The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017

Specify Site 
Visits

Possible site visit to Derby City Council. There has been mention that this 
Council has relaxed its local connection policy, but clarity is needed.

Projected 
start date

W/C 16 July 2018, 
subject to member 
availability

Draft Report 
Deadline

Report to 6 November Scrutiny 
Committee

Meeting 
Frequency

~ 6 meetings approx. Projected 
completion date

Reports to 14 November CEB 

Draft outline of meetings 
Meeting 1 - Understanding the Local Context
The Review Group will meet with council officers to understand the current provision of 
services for homeless people in the City, and the wider homelessness pathway. 
Meeting 2 – Meeting rough sleepers
Members of the Review Group, the Scrutiny Officer and an experienced frontline council 
officer familiar with interacting rough sleepers will engage with homeless people and record 
opinions and experiences in relation to the homelessness pathway and the local connection 
policy. For this to be meaningful, a robust and ethical research approach to 
interviewing/surveying individuals will need to be established, across a representative 
sample. This will require further planning before being undertaken.

Meeting 3 – Meeting service providers, experts and former rough sleepers
The Review Group will meet with service professionals from a range of organisations to 
gather data on their experiences of the local connection policy and the homelessness 
pathway. This may require a morning/afternoon, and for attendees to be staggered.  

Meeting 4 – Meeting other authorities
Members of the Panel will meet with representatives from Derby City Council to discuss their 
views on relaxing the local connection policy. More clarity is needed in the first instance on 
the precise nature of the Derby policy. 

Meeting 5 – Recommendations and Conclusions
The Review Group will review the evidence it has received and form recommendations. 

Meeting 6 – Feasibility of recommendations (provisional)
To discuss with relevant officers the feasibility of implementing any significant 
resource/spending intensive recommendations, prior to submission to the City Executive 
Board. 

10

https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/237144/the_reconnection_of_rough_sleepers_within_the_uk_an-_evaluation_2015.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/237144/the_reconnection_of_rough_sleepers_within_the_uk_an-_evaluation_2015.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/237144/the_reconnection_of_rough_sleepers_within_the_uk_an-_evaluation_2015.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/238700/homelessness_monitor_england_2018.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/238700/homelessness_monitor_england_2018.pdf
file:///C:/Users/srobinson/Downloads/Housing_and_Homelessness_Strategy_2018_2021_FINAL%20(1).pdf
file:///C:/Users/srobinson/Downloads/Housing_and_Homelessness_Strategy_2018_2021_FINAL%20(1).pdf
file:///C:/Users/srobinson/Downloads/Appendix_A_Evidence_Base_for_the_Housing_and_Homelessness_Strategy_2018_21_FINAL.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/238700/homelessness_monitor_england_2018.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/238700/homelessness_monitor_england_2018.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/237144/the_reconnection_of_rough_sleepers_within_the_uk_an-_evaluation_2015.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents/enacted


1

Suggested Reading List

All documents are hyperlinked. Please click to access documents
No. Document  Title Description 

National Guidance
1 The Homelessness Code of Guidance 

for Local Authorities
Guidance on how local authorities should 
exercise their homelessness functions. Chapter 
10 focusses on the Local Connection. 

2 Procedures for referrals of homeless 
applicants to another local authority

Voluntary guidelines on local resolution without 
resorting to legal proceedings between local 
authorities concerning local connection matters.

3 The Homelessness Reduction Act 
2017

Defines homelessness and sets out duties to 
prevent, relieve and refer homelessness. A 
summary can be found here.

4 Counts and Estimates Toolkit Guidance followed by Oxford City Council on 
counting rough sleepers.

Oxford City Documents
5 Oxford City Council’s Housing and 

Homelessness Strategy 2018-21
The Council’s overarching strategy reaffirms the 
Council’s intention to apply a local connection 
approach to its commissioned services (p.56). 

6 Evidence for the Housing and 
Homelessness Strategy 2018-21

This evidence base provides a wealth of data on 
local homelessness, and wider housing matters

7 Oxford Street Homelessness FAQs Key questions on rough sleeping answered
8 Homelessness Survival Guide An A-Z directory to support anyone who is 

homeless or at risk of homelessness.
9 Council awarded £500,000 in extra 

funding to help rough sleepers
New Government funding will be used to 
establish a multi-agency hub in the city centre

Research Reports
10 How to end homelessness in Great 

Britain (Crisis)
p.194 features a section on ‘scrapping local 
connection criteria’ for rough sleepers. It also 
suggest ” local connection rules… should be 
suspended between local authorities in different 
regions.” P.389 also sets out proposals for 
revising the local connection approach – 
essential reading.

11 Birmingham City Council: Scrutiny 
review of rough sleeping

A 2017 scrutiny review into rough sleeping in 
Birmingham, with 11 recommendations. 

12 The homelessness monitor: England 
2018

A longitudinal study analysing the homelessness 
impacts of recent economic and policy 
developments in England.

13 The reconnection of rough sleepers 
within the UK 2015

The report suggests that some councils are 
tightening their local connection criteria, and 
provides a comprehensive overview of local 
connection and reconnection challenges. 

14 The impact of economic downturns 
and budget cuts on homelessness 
claim rates

The study finds a strong link between reductions 
in spending on welfare by local and central 
government with increased homelessness. 

15 National Audit Office report on 
homelessness 2017

Considers the causes and costs of 
homelessness, and the national response to 
rising homelessness.  

16 House of Commons: Rough sleepers 
access to support services

Sets out the rights of rough sleepers to access 
services.

11

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/PROCEDURES%20FOR%20REFERRALS%20OF%20HOMELESS%20APPLICANTS%20TO%20ANOTHER%20LOCAL%20AUTHORITY_1.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/PROCEDURES%20FOR%20REFERRALS%20OF%20HOMELESS%20APPLICANTS%20TO%20ANOTHER%20LOCAL%20AUTHORITY_1.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents/enacted
http://www.cih.org/resources/PDF/Policy%20free%20download%20pdfs/What%20you%20need%20to%20know%20Homelessness%20Reduction%20Act%202017.pdf
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Count%20Process%202017.pdf
file:///C:/Users/srobinson/Downloads/Housing_and_Homelessness_Strategy_2018_2021_FINAL%20(1).pdf
file:///C:/Users/srobinson/Downloads/Housing_and_Homelessness_Strategy_2018_2021_FINAL%20(1).pdf
file:///C:/Users/srobinson/Downloads/Appendix_A_Evidence_Base_for_the_Housing_and_Homelessness_Strategy_2018_21_FINAL.pdf
file:///C:/Users/srobinson/Downloads/Appendix_A_Evidence_Base_for_the_Housing_and_Homelessness_Strategy_2018_21_FINAL.pdf
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/2021/street_homelessness_information_sheet.pdf
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/directory/3/homelessness_survival_guide
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/news/article/786/council_awarded_500000_in_extra_funding_to_help_rough_sleepers
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/news/article/786/council_awarded_500000_in_extra_funding_to_help_rough_sleepers
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/238959/everybody_in_how_to_end_homelessness_in_great_britain_2018.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/238959/everybody_in_how_to_end_homelessness_in_great_britain_2018.pdf
https://www.birmingham.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/7194/rough_sleeping_and_prevention.pdf
https://www.birmingham.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/7194/rough_sleeping_and_prevention.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/238700/homelessness_monitor_england_2018.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/238700/homelessness_monitor_england_2018.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/237144/the_reconnection_of_rough_sleepers_within_the_uk_an-_evaluation_2015.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/237144/the_reconnection_of_rough_sleepers_within_the_uk_an-_evaluation_2015.pdf
https://academic.oup.com/jpubhealth/article/38/3/417/2239829
https://academic.oup.com/jpubhealth/article/38/3/417/2239829
https://academic.oup.com/jpubhealth/article/38/3/417/2239829
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Homelessness.pdf
https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Homelessness.pdf
http://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-7698/CBP-7698.pdf
http://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/CBP-7698/CBP-7698.pdf


2

17 Crisis: no one turned away 2016 Recommends that the government create a 
prevention duty on councils for those threatened 
with homelessness; blind to priority need status, 
intentionality and local connection. 

18 Parliamentary Research Briefing on 
Homelessness – July 2018

A comprehensive guide to local authority 
homelessness legislation, challenges & duties. 

Media Reports
19 Deaths of UK Homeless people more 

than double in five years
According to the Guardian’s figures, the average 
life expectancy of a rough sleeper was 43, with 
year on year increases in recorded deaths.

20 Rough sleeper numbers in England 
rise for seventh year running

Charts the national rise in rough sleeping, with 
an estimated 4,751 having slept rough in 2017.

21 Rough Sleeping: Decline in Cherwell 
as homeless move to oxford

2018 report concerning Cherwell funding bed 
spaces in Oxford.

12

https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/20603/crisis_no_one_turned_away_2016.pdf
http://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN01164/SN01164.pdf
http://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN01164/SN01164.pdf
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2018/apr/11/deaths-of-uk-homeless-people-more-than-double-in-five-years
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2018/apr/11/deaths-of-uk-homeless-people-more-than-double-in-five-years
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2018/jan/25/rough-sleeper-numbers-in-england-rise-for-seventh-year-running
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2018/jan/25/rough-sleeper-numbers-in-england-rise-for-seventh-year-running
http://www.oxfordmail.co.uk/news/16325017.rough-sleeping-decline-in-cherwell-as-homeless-move-to-oxford/
http://www.oxfordmail.co.uk/news/16325017.rough-sleeping-decline-in-cherwell-as-homeless-move-to-oxford/


The Current Context 
No Local Connection Review Group Report

Key Scoping Quesitons Answered

1. What provision is already in place to support rough sleepers without a local 
connection?

Introduction

In order for an individual to access supported accommodation for single homeless 
/rough sleepers in Oxford, they need to meet eligibility criteria. This means they need 
to have a local connection as set out in the City’s Allocations Scheme or to fulfil the 
criteria for a ‘homeless pathway connection’. A pathway connection is a less strict 
set of criteria than the ‘local connection’. They also need to be in receipt of benefits 
(and so have recourse to public funds).  Please refer to Appendix 1: Common 
Operational Protocol for further details on eligibility. 

Some commissioned services can be accessed by those with and those without a 
local connection (or recourse), including the sit-up service (where the client is 
engaging) and day centre services. 

Further detail is provided in the sections below about winter provision which is open 
to those without eligibility. Information has also been provided about some of the 
accommodation units which are being commissioned through a specific MHCLG 
budget, and where the usual rules on eligibility will not apply

A summary of all services can be found in Table One

Winter Provision

Oxford City Council has a Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) which sets 
out what Oxford City Council and local partner homelessness organisations will do to 
ensure there is provision of extra bed spaces for rough sleepers during adverse 
weather conditions. During 2017-18, 144 individuals accessed SWEP – the highest 
number ever – and accommodation was provided for a total of827 nights. 

SWEP is available to people regardless of their local connection and has always 
been used by a high proportion of clients with a connection to areas outside 
Oxfordshire and by clients who are EEA nationals without recourse to public funds.  
Most of those accessing SWEP in 2017-18 did not have a connection to Oxford.. 
Many had a connection to other Oxfordshire districts but over a quarter had no 
connection to Oxfordshire. Many clients were still waiting for confirmation of their 
connection status. Please refer to Appendix 2: SWEP Analysis, for further 
information.

In addition, in 2017/18 the Oxford Winter Night Shelter (OWNS) operated between 
January and March, providing shelter to ten individuals across churches in Oxford. 
This service was provided without funding from the City Council and was open to all 
rough sleepers regardless of eligibility.  It is proposed that this service will expand in 
2018/19. 

13

Agenda Item 3



MHCLG Bid

Oxford City Council has been awarded £502,983 by MHCLG to fund services to 
prevent and relieve rough sleeping over the winter of 18/19. 

This money will support OCC to provide a Hub in the city for Rough sleepers where 
they can access a number of support services. It is also being used to commission 
supported accommodation in the city.  Some units are being commissioned to meet 
the needs of eligible rough sleepers, however others will specifically be open to 
some rough sleepers without a local connection and/or recourse to public funds.  
Table 1 provides further information on this.

2. How homelessness services are funded?

Historically, the County Council commissioned most  services for single homeless 
people from Supporting People funding.  In recent years, this funding envelope has 
reduced significantly, with the Council proposing to cease funding entirely from 
2019/20 onwards.  From 17/18 a pooled budget arrangement was agreed between 
all the Oxfordshire district councils; the county council and clinical commissioning 
group, to continue to fund the Adult Homeless Pathway.

The City Council has re-shaped its own commissioning strategy in light of this and 
has prioritised funding into accommodation based support for rough sleepers, to 
ensure adequacy of provision for city-connected clients going forward.  The beds 
that the City Council commission are aligned with the pooled commissioning to offer 
clients access to an expanded pathway if they have a city connection.

Oxford City Council agreed its budget and Medium Term Financial Plan for the 
period 2018-19 to 2021-22 which included a base budget of provision of £941k per 
annum. A further commissioning budget is also available from the Council’s own 
grant budget of £442,279.
The strategic framework within which these funds are allocated remains the same, 
providing a total budget for 2018/19 of approximately £1,834,853. This represents a 
total increase of £100,000 on the 2017/18 budget (excluding the proposed managed 
carry forward of funds from and reserves committed to the Acacia Housing First 
Project in 2017/18). A further £200,000 has also been identified in the budget report 
for inclusion in the base budget from 2019/20 onwards.
In light of the cross-commissioning agenda and cross-strategy advantages of 
homeless prevention and ending rough sleeping work, a multi-agency steering group 
advises on the monitoring of this budget. The group comprises of representatives 
from Oxford City Council, Oxfordshire County Council Joint Commissioning Team, 
Public Health and the Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group.
Funding targeted at helping existing rough sleepers aims to support them through 
what is known as the homeless pathway. This is the path from sleeping on the 
streets; through hostels and supported accommodation; with support services to help 
with employment, training, or any substance abuse or mental health issues; and 

14



finally to helping people into permanent accommodation and work. Please refer to 
Appendix 3 Adult Homeless Pathway. 

Table 1

In 2018/19 the grants funded (and will be funding) the following services:

Oxfordshire Adult Homeless Pathway – Pooled Budget 
Supported Accommodation

Service Service 
Provider

Contract 
Value

City 
use 
only

Number of 
Units/Beds

Local 
connection

O'Hanlon Hse - City Homeless 
Oxfordshire Yes 27 Yes

Connection Support Connection & 
Response Yes 31 Yes

Mayday Mayday Trust

£161,700

Yes 21 Yes

79

Oxford City Funded Supported Housing

O'Hanlon Hse - City - 
SIT UP

Homeless 
Oxfordshire £54,903 Yes 10

No (RS can 
stay in sit up 
whist a 
connection is 
being looked 
into, or while 
they are 
engaged in 
reconnection)

Project 41 Homeless 
Oxfordshire £149,994 Yes 41 Yes

Simon House  A2 Dominion £200,000 Yes 22 Yes

Mayday Mayday Trust £39,272 Yes 10 Yes

Housing First Homeless 
Oxfordshire £47,850 Yes 5 Yes

Acacia - existing Homeless 
Oxfordshire £47,850 Yes 5 Yes

Acacia - capacity 
increase

Homeless 
Oxfordshire £47,850 Yes 5 Yes

TBC - EEA Migrants / 
Routes Home   Yes 1 No

  89

MHCLG Bid
O'Hanlon Hse - City - Homeless £33,658 No 10 As with the 

15



SIT UP - extension Oxfordshire sit-up 
service 
above

London Place winter 
shelter A2 

Dominion
20930 Yes 6 No

Simon House  - 
winter shelter

A2 
Dominion 62595 Yes 8 No

Womens beds Homeless 
Oxfordshire £16,377 TBC 5 Yes

Green Templeton 
College beds

Oxford 
University/ 
Aspire

£15,400 Yes 3 No

Rehab units Homeless 
Oxfordshire  49009 TBC 7 Yes

Move On units Homeless 
Oxfordshire  23962 Yes 5 Yes

District based Winter 
Night Shelters

District 
Councils 30000 No 20 No

  64

Other Services
Street Population 
Outreach Team, St Mungo’s £350,893 No

Specialist 
Homelessness 
Liaison 
Officer/Service 

Thames 
Valley 
Police

£30,000

No

City Centre 
Ambassadors 

Oxford City 
Council £17,500 No

Day services for 
Rough Sleepers at 
O’Hanlon House

Homeless 
Oxfordshire £82,778

No

Preventing 
Homelessness – 
Tenancy 
Sustainment Officer 

Elmore 
Community 
Services

£35,630

Yes

Pre-Tenancy 
Training Course

Connections 
Support £16,000 Yes

Target 
Hardening/Sanctuary 
Scheme

Oxford City 
Council £30,000

Yes

Education, Training 
and Employment 

Oxford City 
Council £77,623 Yes

Emmaus Community 
Oxford Emmaus £10,000 No

Day Centre The Porch £55,000 No
Service Broker £12,500 No 

16



The Big 
Issue 
Foundation

(although 
there is a 
KPI to 
encourage 
this)

Gatehouse Café Gatehouse £5,580  No
Emergency Bed for 
young person’s 
pathway

Oxford City 
Council

£6,134 Yes 
(forward 
plan 
needs to 
be in 
place)

Single 
Homelessness Team

Oxford City 
Council

£120,000 N/A

Oxford CHAIN 
database, Real 
Systems

St Mungos - 
London.

£4,396 N/A

3. Understanding the reconnection process for those without a local 
connection. 

The process of establishing local connection is carried out by OxSPOT (the outreach 
service commissioned through St Mungos), in conjunction with the Adult Homeless 
Pathway Co-ordinator at the City Council. The outreach worker verifies the rough 
sleeper and offers them an assessment, which will collect details that enable the co-
ordinator to determine if:

 the client has a connection to City/
 the client has a connection to another district in Oxfordshire (in which 

case they wll be referred to that authority).
if the client has a local connection to another area in the Country

Where the client does not have a connection to Oxford City or another Oxfordshire 
district, the outreach service will determine if the client is able to access 
accommodation/support in other areas of the country (regardless of their connection 
to any one area), and willdraw up a suitable offer of accommodation and support (a 
service offer). This may involve making an offer of reconnection and providing 
resources to support this.

Please refer to Appendix 1: The Common Operational Protocol (Confidential) 

17



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

19

By virtue of 
Regulation 21(1)(A) of the Local Authorities (Executive
Arrangements) (Access to Information) (England)
Regulations 2000.



This page is intentionally left blank



14.15 15.16 16.17 17.18
0

10

20

30

40

50
Usage by EEA Clients

Year

%

14.15 15.16 16.17 17.18
0

5

10

15

20

25

30
Usage by Oxon District Clients (Non-

OCC)

Year

%

The types of clients using the service have changed over time12.13 14.15 15.16 16.17 17.18
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800 Number of individuals Total nights

Year

N
um

be
r

9

36 Nights Open

14%

8%
2%

12%

28%

36%

CDC

South & 
Vale

West

OCC

None

Unknown

Connection
Most of those accessing SWEP did not have a 
connection to Oxford. Many had a connection to 
other Oxfordshire districts but over a quarter 
had no connection to Oxfordshire. Many clients 
were still waiting for confirmation of their 
connection status.

Support Needs
Many of the clients accessing SWEP had 
high support needs, including substance 
misuse problems, offending and mental 
health issues often in conjunction. 

25%

32%

22%

17%

4% One Only

Two to Four

Five to Nine

Ten to Nineteen

Twenty or More

Alcohol Offending Drugs Mental 
Health

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70

Clients with support needs including..

%

  

Over half of clients stayed for four nights or less but thirty clients 
used the service for ten nights or more.

Usage 
During 2017-18, 144 individuals accessed SWEP – the highest 
number ever.  SWEP was also open for an unusually high number 
of nights during March. As expected given the high number of 
nights open and the high number of individuals accessing the 
service, the total number of stays at 827 was the highest ever 
recorded. 

3518

APPENDIX 2: SEVERE WEATHER EMERGENCY 
PROTOCOL (SWEP)

23
47

Change over time
SWEP has always been used by a high proportion of clients with a connection to districts outside 
Oxfordshire and by clients with non-British EEA nationality   

87



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3: Oxford City Council – Support for Rough Sleepers and Single Homeless People 2018/19
OUTREACH/ NEEDS IDENTIFICATION ADULT HOMELESS PATHWAY (Supported Accommodation) POSITIVE MOVE-ON OPTIONS

Priority 1 (“No 
Second Night Out”) & 
Priority 2 (“No Living 

on the Streets”) 
Referrals from SPOT

O’Hanlon House
27 beds

Assessment
 (7 to 10) &

Complex Needs 
(17 to 20) beds

Simon House
25 bed

(Complex, 
Progression & 

Abstinence beds)

Mayday Trust
21 beds

(Complex, Progression & 
Move-on)

Access to another 
pathway (e.g. 

Mental Health or 
Substance Misuse)

Long Term Care/ 
Support (including 

Hospital)

Oxford Street Population 
Outreach Team (SPOT)
 Assertive Outreach
 Verification
 Rapid Assessment
 Referrals
 Advice and Assistance
 Personalisation
 Diversion & 

Reconnection

Housing First
5 beds

(Entrenched/ 
Complex)

Mayday Trust
10 beds

(Complex, 
Progression & 

Move-on)

Connection Support
31 beds

(Progression & Move-on)

Private Rented 
Sector, inc: Real 

Lettings;  Re-
Connect; Edge / 

Churches Housing

Social Housing
(usually via the 

Move-on Scheme) 

Priority 3 Referrals (“No First 
Night Out”)  inc hospital and 

prison discharges

Oxford Pathway 
Co-ordination:

Determines eligibility 
and access to 

Oxford pathway O’Hanlon House
Sit-Up Service

10+ spaces

Acacia
5 beds

(Complex Needs/ 
Mental Health)

Project 41
41 beds

(28 High to Medium & 13 
Medium to Low Needs)

Emmaus 
(28 beds)

Family and 
Friends

OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL ACCOMMODATION 
FOR ROUGH SLEEPERS and SINGLE HOMELESS 

PEOPLE
WINTER SHELTER PROVISION DAY SERVICES EMPLOYMENT SUPPORT

Cherwell District 
Council

11 beds, O’Hanlon House (3 
assessment, 8 complex); 13 beds, 

Banbury
(progression, move-on)

Funded by Oxford City Council:
Aspire Oxford

Emmaus (Second-hand Superstore)
The Big Issue Foundation

Tenant Ready Scheme
Vale of White 

Horse and South 
Oxon District 

Councils

12 beds, O’Hanlon House (4 
assessment, 8 complex); 13 beds, 

Vineyard
(progression, move-on)

West Oxon District 
Council

6 beds, O’Hanlon House (1 assessment, 
5 complex); 6 beds, Chipping Norton

(progression, move-on)

Oxford City Council operates the Severe 
Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) which 
provides additional beds in extreme weather. 
It is operated by O’Hanlon House according to 
demand and accommodation is provided at 
locations across the City.

Oxford Winter Night Shelter (OWNS) provides 
an additional ten beds throughout winter.

Oxford City Council supports and 
funds O’Hanlon House Day Centre 
and The Porch which provide:

 meals
 showers
 meaningful activity
 drop-in surgeries

The Gatehouse provides an evening 
service.

Crisis Skylight
Arts at the Old Fire Station

RAW workshop (Response at Work)
Restore

The Mill (MIND)

Mental Health Partnership 
Accommodation

Accommodation with Response (150+ beds) & MIND (85 beds - transitional)
Floating Support/ Other 

Support Services

Connection (Generic contract and Specialist Mental Health)/ MayDay 
Asset Mentors/ Elmore Community Services/ Welfare Reform 

Team/Luther St Medical Centre (inc MH Practitioner) 

Young Persons Pathway
(227 beds in Oxon)

Emergency Beds (2); Young Persons (57); Young Parents (17); & Specialist 
(15) beds – Home Group and Key 2; and LIFE Housing (Young Mothers)

Substance Misuse Services Turning Point; Howard House (Rehab); Saplings Project (7)

Offender Accommodation Compass (40 units – Low to Medium support) Community Safety Support
TVP/ Street Ambassadors / Sanctuary Scheme & target hardening/ 

Domestic Abuse Services

89



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Suggestions for Guest Speakers / written submissions 

It is recommended that the Review Group receives evidence from a cross section of 
guest speakers with frontline service experience, former rough sleepers and 
academics, for example. The review group will need to prioritise those it wishes to 
speak to, and those it would wish to receive written evidence from. Some 
organisations do not yet have an identifies point of contact, and councillors or 
officers are invited to identify who best to speak to. 

The Scrutiny officer will manage invitations to guests, but would welcome assistance 
in making the connections where possible. 

1. Professor 
Suzanne 
Fitzpatrick 

Authored of The homelessness monitor: England 2018, and has 
contributed to numerous ‘Crisis’ research projects. Most recently, 
contributed to the How to end homelessness in Great Britain 
report, recommending to suspend / abolish the local connection.  
Based in Scotland.

2. Liz Davies Specialises in all aspects of housing law, with a particular 
expertise in homelessness. Also contributed to the How to end 
homelessness in Great Britain report.

3. Sue Jackson Oxford Street Population Outreach (OXSPOT) Manager
4. Professor 

Sarah 
Johnsen

Research focuses on homelessness, addiction and ‘deep’ social 
exclusion and welfare provision for people with complex support 
needs. Contributes to Crisis research, and a former research 
manager for the Salvation Army. Based in Scotland.

5. Oxford Winter 
Night Shelter

A project being run by Oxford churches to offer emergency night 
shelter accommodation for the homeless

6. Oxford 
Gatehouse

The Gatehouse has been operating as a local drop in café for 
Oxford City homeless and the vulnerably housed for thirty years

7. Claire Dowan Chief Executive of Homeless Oxfordshire: The largest 
accommodation provider across the county with 144 beds in 24 
properties offering a full range of support.

8. Matthew 
Downie

Director of Policy and External Affairs at Crisis. Coordinated and 
edited the How to end homelessness in Great Britain report, and 
responsible for political engagement. Or, request representative.

9. Luther Street 
Medical 
Centre

Recognised for good work in helping Oxford’s homeless 
population. Video showcasing work available here.

10. Deborah 
robson-grey

Co-founder of Homes4All

11. The Porch Local Queens Award recipient for Voluntary Services in support 
of the Homeless Community. 

12. Emmaus Provides support to 28 formerly homeless people in Oxford. 
13. Act Oxford Supports ex-offenders in their rehabilitation. 
14. Simon House Supports single homeless people who are vulnerable due to 

drug/alcohol dependency, mental health issues, learning 
difficulties, physical disabilities,

Please note, all names have been sourced through publically available sources. 

91

Agenda Item 5

https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/238700/homelessness_monitor_england_2018.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/238959/everybody_in_how_to_end_homelessness_in_great_britain_2018.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/238959/everybody_in_how_to_end_homelessness_in_great_britain_2018.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/238959/everybody_in_how_to_end_homelessness_in_great_britain_2018.pdf
https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/238959/everybody_in_how_to_end_homelessness_in_great_britain_2018.pdf
https://youtu.be/3ZLJ_G-3QMw


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Review scope and background reading list
	Background Reading List

	3 The current context
	NOT FOR PUBLICATION - Appendix 1 Oxfordshire Adult Homeless Pathway Common Operational Protocol
	Appendix 2 SWEP Analysis Infoposter 17.18
	Appendix 3 AHP Map of Services

	5 Confirmation of Guest Speakers

